S259850

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PRESBYTERIAN CAMP AND CONFERENCE CENTERS, INC., Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA BARBARA COUNTY, Respondent.

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY AND FIRE PROTECTION AND CHARLES E. COOK,

Real Parties in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX, CASE NO. B297195
SANTA BARBARA SUPERIOR COURT—MAIN, CASE NO. 18CV02968
THOMAS P. ANDERLE, JUDGE • PHONE: (805) 882-4570 • EMAIL: TANDERLE@SBCOURTS.GOV

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

BETH J. JAY (BAR No. 53820)
H. THOMAS WATSON (BAR No. 160277)
*DANIEL J. GONZALEZ (BAR No. 73623)
3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Can a person (corporate or natural) be vicariously responsible on what would amount to a claim of respondent superior for fire suppression and investigation costs under Health and Safety Code sections 13009 and 13009.1, when the person alleged to be liable neither performed, authorized, or ratified the allegedly negligent act that caused a wildfire, nor negligently failed to do something that would have prevented the fire from starting in the first place?

2. An irreconcilable conflict now exists on this issue between two Courts of Appeal that have interpreted the effect of the 1971 change to Health and Safety Code section 13009 and the later enacted section 13009.1: the Third Appellate District's decision in *Department of Forestry & Fire Protection v. Howell* (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 154, 182 (*Howell*), and the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. Which of these two published decisions is correct?

INTRODUCTION

A. California's evolving statutes allowing the recovery of wildfire suppression costs

California is confronting an unprecedented increase in the frequency and ferocity of wildfires. As the need to deploy sophisticated firefighting resources has grown to confront "risks all too familiar to Californians" (*Scholes v. Lambirth Trucking Company* (2020) 8 Cal.5th 1094, 1099 (*Scholes*), the costs of suppression have skyrocketed so that they may, as in this case, greatly exceed the expense of compensating a fire's victims. Public agencies incur these expenses by performing a basic governmental

By September 2018, California's fire agency had reportedly exhausted its annual budget of \$442.8 million and needed an additional \$234 million to continue fighting wildfires. (Shoot, California's \$442 Million Fire Budget Is Exhausted—and Needs \$234 Million More to Keep Fighting (Sept. 6, 2018) Fortune https://fortune.com/2018/09/06/california-fire-2018-cost-insurance-claims/ [as of Apr. 14, 2020].) This followed total fire suppression spending of \$773 million in 2017. (Ibid.)

service funded by taxpayers. Such public agencies alone have the means to efficiently prepare for and fight fires, and they may seek additional public resources should actual needs exceed what was budgeted.

There is no common law right for the agencies to recover these costs from persons who caused the fires they fight. The authority for reimbursement, if any, is purely statutory. (*Howell, supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 176.) Health and Safety Code sections 13009 and 13009.1² are the California statutes that authorize such cost recoveries.

The language of the current law is derived in significant part from the "Fire Liability Law," which was enacted in 1931 and made liability for suppression costs coextensive with liability under the statute to compensate fire victims for their damages. In almost identical language, the provisions of the 1931 statute were subsequently codified in 1953 as Health and Safety Code sections 13007, 13008, and 13009.³ In particular, section 13007 preserved the liability to fire victims that had existed for any person who "personally or through another" was responsible for negligently

² Health and Safety Code section 13009.1 was enacted in 1984 to authorize public entities to recover their costs of investigating fires, in addition to the fire suppression costs. Because the circumstances for recovering costs under sections 13009 and 13009.1 are identical, our references to the recovery of suppression costs under section 13009 encompasses the recovery of investigation costs under section 13009.1, unless the context indicates otherwise.

³ Henceforth, statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code unless otherwise stated.

setting a fire, or allowing a fire to be set or to spread.⁴ And under section 13009, any person made liable by section 13007 was also made liable to reimburse public agencies for their firefighting expenses. In this way, section 13009 incorporated by reference the phrase "personally or through another" in section 13007 to describe who could be responsible for such costs. (Emphasis added.)

The Legislature deleted this key incorporation by reference when it substantially revised section 13009 in 1971. Specifically, the revision removed the cross-reference to section 13007. In its place, the Legislature added a new first sentence to section 13009 that omitted the phrase "personally or through another" to describe who might be liable for suppression costs. As reworded, section 13009 liability reached any *person* responsible for setting a fire, etc. This 1971 change has persisted through subsequent amendments to section 13009 and the enactment of its companion section 13009.1 in 1984, which authorizes reimbursement for an agency's costs to investigate fires.

B. The conflict concerning vicarious liability for fire suppression costs

In this action, the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CalFire) invokes sections 13009 and 13009.1 to recover more than \$12 million from the Presbyterian Camp and Conference Centers (PCCC) for suppression costs arising from the

13

⁴ For the convenience of this court, copies of some of the prior statutory enactments to which we refer in this brief are attached as exhibits to this brief. (See pp. 55-64, *post.*)

7500-acre "Sherpa" fire in Santa Barbara County in 2017. CalFire contends that PCCC is responsible for those costs because its alleged agent or employee, Charles Cook, negligently started the fire. PCCC contends that the 1971 amendments to section 13009, as correctly construed in *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th 154, preclude such vicarious liability on the theory of respondent superior.

"Vicarious liability is based on the concept that one person's wrongful act will be *imputed* to another despite the fact the latter is free from fault." (Wise v. Thrifty Payless, Inc. (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1296, 1305 (Wise); see also Lathrop v. HealthCare Partners Medical Group (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1412, 1423 (Lathrop) [vicarious liability "is wholly derived from the liability of the employee"].) This represents a departure from the general principle of tort law that liability should follow fault. (Mary M. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 202, 208 (Mary M.); Juarez v. Boy Scouts of America, Inc. (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 377, 393.)

In Howell, supra, 18 Cal.App.5th at pages 175-182, the Third District held that the 1971 changes to section 13009 eliminated the vicarious liability for fire suppression costs that had previously existed. Howell concluded that, while the Legislature in 1971 maintained the liability for such costs for those persons who are directly responsible for starting the fires, employers of a negligent agent or employee were no longer liable for the costs under the rule of respondeat superior, which presupposes that the employer has itself done nothing wrong. (Id. at pp. 176-182.) Until Howell, no reported California decision after the amendments had even

considered the argument that such liability continued to exist. Meanwhile the Legislature left section 13007 and the potential for vicarious liability for damages to fire *victims* unchanged.

Sound policy reasons supported treating compensation to fire victims differently from reimbursement for public agencies' costs.

In the context of tort law, the rule of respondent superior imposes vicarious liability on an otherwise innocent employer to (among other things) assure that injured victims receive compensation for their property and personal losses caused by the employer's negligent agents or employees. Accordingly, section 13007 places the responsibility to compensate fire victims on persons who act "personally or through another." (Emphasis added.)

There is less justification for imposing the burden of vicarious liability for public firefighting expenditures on the innocent employer that already helped fund the public agencies through its taxes. The common law goal of spreading the burden of loss should not apply in this context because the agencies are not victims needing compensation for injury, but instead have provided the basic governmental service for which they were created and for which they were allocated public funds. As the Third District correctly observed, it is not "incongruous that the Legislature may have afforded a longer reach in recovery efforts to an owner whose property was damaged than it afforded those who expended funds fighting or investigating the fire." (Howell, supra, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 179, emphases added.)

The Second District here expressly disagreed with *Howell*. (*Presbyterian Camp & Conference Centers, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 148, 152 (*PCCC*).) The court affirmed the trial court ruling that PCCC *could be held* vicariously liable for CalFire's costs based solely on Cook's alleged negligence. (*Id.* at pp. 152, 156-157, 163.)

Underlying the Second District's decision is the false premise that the liability of a corporation like PCCC is *always* "vicarious." As a result, the court reasoned, *Howell's* result meant that corporations could *never* be held responsible for costs under section 13009.

The Second District's rationale is flawed. The issue of vicarious liability under section 13009 has implications for *any* "person"—corporate *or natural*—who may choose to act through agents or employees. Most significantly for our purpose, under *Howell's* construction of section 13009 all persons, including corporations, remain directly liable for their own wrongful acts or omissions.

In reaching its result, the Second District also mistakenly construed the 1971 amendments as operating solely to expand public agencies' authority to recover fire suppression costs. Although the Legislature did broaden agencies' authority to recover their expenditures by extending section 13009 to fires that did not escape the person's property, the amendments also curtailed the agencies' authority in at least three ways. Two changes limited the types of fires for which suppression costs could be recovered and one, as we contend, eliminated vicarious liability.

The Second District also departed from well-established rules of statutory construction. The court dismissed as "mere surplusage" the phrase "personally or through another" that had been incorporated by reference into section 13009 and that *still* remains in section 13007. The court gave no weight to the continued use of this phrase in section 13007 and its absence in section 13009 after 1971 in ascertaining the Legislature's intent when it revised section 13009.

This Court should hold *Howell* correctly interpreted section 13009. As amended in 1971, the law now requires that a person (corporate or natural) must in some *direct* way be responsible for a fire before liability for suppression costs will attach.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE⁵

A. CalFire incurs more than \$12 million in costs responding to the "Sherpa" fire set by Charles Cook, PCCC's alleged agent or employee.

PCCC is a religious corporation that owns properties that it uses or makes available for conferences and other purposes. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, pp. 21-22.) One such property, named Rancho La Sherpa (the Camp Property), is in an unincorporated area in the hills

⁵ Because this appellate proceeding reviews an order overruling PCCC's demurrer to CalFire's complaint, our statement of the case assumes the truth of well-pleaded facts in CalFire's complaint. PCCC reserves the right to contest the veracity of those facts in any future trial court proceeding.

above Goleta, Santa Barbara County. (*Ibid.*; see *PCCC*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 152.)

CalFire alleges that Charles Cook oversaw the Camp Property as PCCC's agent or employee. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 21; *PCCC*, at p. 152.) On June 15, 2016, the cabin Cook occupied filled with smoke from a smoldering log in the fireplace. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, pp. 20, 23; *ibid*.)

There is no allegation that the smoke in the cabin or the fireplace set fire to the surrounding area. Instead, Cook decided to take the log and carry it outside, whereupon burning embers fell onto dry vegetation and ignited what became known as the "Sherpa" fire. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, pp. 20, 23; *PCCC*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 152.)

CalFire alleges that it incurred over \$12 million in expenses responding to the fire. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 23; *PCCC*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 152.) It seeks to recover those costs from PCCC and Cook pursuant to sections 13009 and 13009.1. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 35; *PCCC*. at p. 153.)

B. PCCC demurs to CalFire's complaint for costs, asserting unsuccessfully that under the Third District's *Howell* decision, it is not vicariously liable for Cook's negligence. The Second District upholds the trial court's ruling, expressly disagreeing with *Howell*. This Court grants review.

PCCC demurred to CalFire's complaint, arguing that under *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at page 182, it was not vicariously liable for CalFire's costs in responding to the fire that Cook's conduct triggered. (Vol. 1, exh. 4, pp. 36-38; exh. 5. pp. 39-41; exh. 6, pp. 42-59; *PCCC*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 153.) In its order overruling PCCC's demurrer, the trial court acknowledged *Howell* but concluded the holding there was limited to its specific facts. (Vol. 1, exh. 2, pp. 16-18; exh. 8, pp. 69-72; *PCCC*, at p. 153.)

PCCC petitioned the Second District, Division Six, for relief by writ. CalFire supported PCCC's request for a decision on the merits, and the court issued an Order to Show Cause.

After full briefing, the Second District affirmed the trial court's order overruling PCCC's demurrer, expressly rejecting the result and reasoning of the Third District's *Howell* decision. (*PCCC*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 152, 163.) The court held that despite the 1971 amendments to section 13009, PCCC can be vicariously liable for the fire-related costs that CalFire incurred as a result of Cook's alleged negligence. (*Id.* at pp. 156-158, 163.) The court modified its opinion on PCCC's petition for rehearing, but left its holding and judgment intact. (See *id.* at pp. 1173a-1173d.)

This Court granted PCCC's petition for review.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. The 1971 amendments to Health and Safety Code section 13009 eliminated vicarious responsibility for fire suppression costs based on respondeat superior.
 - A. Prior to 1971, the statutes governing civil liability for fires allowed a person's vicarious liability both for fire damage and for suppression costs.

The risks and devastating consequences of wildfires have become familiar to Californians. (See *Scholes*, *supra*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 1099.) After every such disaster, there follow the vexing questions of who may have been responsible and should bear the burdens of loss and expense. "That fire liability is an enormously consequential and complicated issue for Californians is beyond question." (*Id.* at p. 1117.)

The origin of civil liability for fire damage in California's statutory law goes back to 1872 and the enactment of former Political Code section 3344. (See pp. 55-56, post.) Since then, the Legislature has repeatedly enacted other statutes on the same or related matters.⁶ The liability for fire damage to another's property or person is currently governed by sections 13007 and 13008 of the Health and Safety Code.

^{See, e.g., former Civ. Code, § 3346a [repealed by Stats. 1931, ch. 790, § 6, p. 1644]; Civ. Code, § 3346; Code Civ. Proc., § 733.}

A public agency's authority to recover the potentially enormous costs of suppressing wildfires has also received specific attention from the Legislature over the decades. A person's responsibility for such costs has its origin in the 1905 "California Forestry Act," which said: "Persons or corporations causing fires by violations of [this act] shall be liable to the state or county in action for debt, to the full amount of all expenses incurred by the state or county in fighting such fires." (Stats. 1905, ch. 264, § 18, p. 240; see pp. 57-58, post.)

The Legislature followed up on that and existing victim compensation laws when it enacted the "Fire Liability Law" in 1931.8 (Stats. 1931, ch. 790, §§ 1-3, p. 1644.) In pertinent part, the 1931 statute provided:

Section 1. "Any person who...[¶]...[p]ersonally or through another" negligently set fire to, or allowed a fire to be set or to escape to, another's property, was liable for the damages the fire caused to the other person.

Section 2. "Any person" who failed to exercise due diligence to prevent a fire burning on his property to escape to the property of another was likewise liable for the damages the fire caused.

Section 3. "The expenses of fighting such fires shall be a charge against any person made liable by this act for damages caused thereby." The responsibility to pay the firefighting

⁷ See County of Ventura v. So. Cal. Edison Co. (1948) 85 Cal.App.2d 529, 536 (County of Ventura).

⁸ See *PCCC*, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 157.

expenses was a "debt . . . collectible . . . in the same manner as in the case of an obligation under a contract, expressed or implied." (See p. 60, *post*.)

In 1953, the Legislature enacted Health and Safety Code sections 13007 and 13008 to codify and replace sections 1 and 2 of the 1931 Fire Liability Law, almost verbatim. (Stats. 1953, ch. 48, §§ 1-2, p. 682; see p. 61, post.) The wording of those Health and Safety Code sections as they exist today is unchanged from 1953. They continue to make persons liable for property and personal losses suffered by victims of the kinds of fires described in the statutes.

At the same time, Health and Safety Code section 13009 codified section 3 of the 1931 of the Fire Liability Law, and it had the same effect. Specifically, the introductory sentence of section 13009 stated that "[t]he expenses of fighting any fires mentioned in Sections 13007 and 13008 are a charge against any person *made liable by those sections* for damages caused by such fires." (Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 3, p. 682, emphasis added; see p. 61, *post.*) Furthermore, consistent with the 1931 statute, section 13009 continued to provide that such a charge for public expenditures would constitute a "debt" of the person responsible that was collectible as an "obligation under a contract." (Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 3, p. 682.)

Because of the cross-reference to section 13007, the liability for fire suppression costs under 13009 as first enacted necessarily extended to any person who "personally or through another" was responsible for negligently setting a fire or allowing it to be set or to spread.⁹ (See p. 61, *post.*) *Howell* understood that this wording created vicarious liability for fire-related public agency expenditures. (See *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 178-179.)

B. The 1971 amendments to section 13009 both expanded and curtailed a public agency's authority to recover fire suppression costs.

At issue here is the effect of the 1971 amendments to section 13009 on a public agency's authority to recover its firefighting expenses.

In *People v. Williams* (1963) 222 Cal.App.2d 152, 155, the court held that as worded in 1953, section 13009 did not authorize the recovery of suppression costs for a fire that did not escape from the property of the person sought to be charged because neither section 13007 nor section 13008 referred to such a fire. To abrogate that result, the Legislature deleted the first sentence of section 13009 and substituted language borrowed—in part—from section 13007. As reworded, section 13009 stated that "[a]ny person who negligently, or in violation of the law, sets a fire, allows a fire to be set, or allows a fire kindled or attended by him to escape onto any forest, range or nonresidential grass-covered land is liable for the expense of fighting the fire." (Stats. 1971, ch. 1202, § 1, p. 2297; see p. 62, post.)

⁹ The phrase "personally or through another" has never been in section 13009 itself. (*Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 176-179.)

Lacking the limiting cross-references to fires described in sections 13007 and 13008, the amended section 13009 covered fires that never escaped to the property "of another." In this way, the 1971 changes to section 13009 expanded a public agency's authority to recover its fire suppression costs. (See *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 178.)

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