FILED WITH PERMISSION

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Presbyterian Camp and Conference Centers, Inc.,

Petitioner,

Case No. S259850

 \mathbf{v} .

The Superior Court of Santa Barbara County,

Respondent,

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection,

Real Party in Interest.

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B297195 Santa Barbara Superior Court—Main, Case No. 18CV02968 The Honorable Thomas P. Anderle, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA (SBN 118517)
Attorney General of California
MICHAEL J. MONGAN (SBN 250374)
Solicitor General
JANILL L. RICHARDS (SBN 173817)
Principal Deputy Solicitor General
ROBERT W. BYRNE (SBN 213155)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 13009 authorizes well-established forms of vicarious liability, including respondent superior, making employers liable for the costs of fighting fires caused by their employees and agents within the scope of their work. Statutes are presumed to incorporate longstanding common-law principles absent unequivocal language to the contrary. And nothing in section 13009 indicates that the Legislature intended to depart from the common law and abrogate respondent superior.

 $^{^{10}}$ See also *United States v. PCCC* (C.D. Cal. May 21, 2020) No. 2:19-cv-07182, Dkt. No. 46, pp. 7-9 [rejecting *Howell's* vicarious-liability analysis]; *United States v. Al-Shawaf* (C.D. Cal. Sept. 19, 2018) 2018 WL 4501108, at *8-9 [same].

¹¹ Petitioner did not seek review of the direct-liability theories alleged in the complaint (*ante* pp. 29-30), which, regardless of the resolution of the issue presented here, will continue to provide independent grounds for establishing that petitioner is liable.

Petitioner's argument thus focuses on the text of a neighboring provision, section 13007. Echoing the reasoning of *Howell*, petitioner contends that section 13007 expressly authorizes respondeat superior by making persons liable for acting "personally or *through another*." In petitioner's view, the Legislature abrogated respondeat superior when it amended section 13009 in 1971, revising it to remove the cross-reference to sections 13007 and 13008 so that section 13009 became a standalone liability provision. In doing so, petitioner emphasizes, the Legislature did not include "personally or through another" in the amended version of the statute.

This argument fails at the threshold because petitioner cannot establish that "through another" must be read as a reference to respondeat superior liability. While there is no surviving legislative history explaining precisely what the Legislature intended by this phrase in 1931, it does not feature any terms of art typically used to denote respondeat superior liability—such as "employee," "agent," or "servant." Rather, it is natural to read "through another" as it is often used in the law: as a reference to circumstances where a person accomplishes something indirectly, through an intermediary, as opposed to directly or personally. The language thus may simply reflect the Legislature's desire to make it abundantly clear that a person does not have to actually strike the match to be held liable for setting fire to another's property.

However, even assuming that "through another" in 13007 is a reference to responde t superior, the absence of that phrase in today's stand-alone version of 13009 falls far short of the unequivocal showing necessary to establish that the Legislature abrogated respondeat superior liability. The Legislature in 1971 would have had no need to restate the principle, knowing that courts would construe the section in light of well-established common-law rules. Moreover, the legislative history shows that, rather than making the sweeping and counterintuitive change that petitioner proposes, the 1971 amendment was specifically intended to overturn the restrictive reading of section 13009 adopted in the *Williams* decision, which barred recovery for firefighting costs where the fire did not escape the defendant's property.

Two additional features of the statute confirm that the Legislature did not intend to abrogate respondent superior. First, section 13009 makes persons liable for acting "negligently," thus incorporating common-law negligence principles. That the Legislature embraced negligence liability—a dominant form of common-law tort liability—is inconsistent with an intent to abrogate common-law vicarious-liability principles. Second, as petitioner acknowledges, a corporation is a "person" liable under section 13009. The Legislature would not have intended to authorize corporate liability for firefighting costs while precluding respondent superior, the most common form of corporate liability.

ARGUMENT

Nothing in the text, structure, or history of section 13009— or the property-damage provisions at sections 13007 and 13008— demonstrates that the Legislature abrogated well-established forms of vicarious liability—including, as relevant in this case, respondent superior.¹²

I. SECTION 13009 INCORPORATES RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR LIABILITY

A. Courts Interpret Statutes to Incorporate Vicarious-Liability Principles, Including Respondent Superior, Absent Clear and Unequivocal Language to the Contrary

In interpreting statutes, courts presume that the Legislature intends to incorporate well-established common-law rules unless the "language *clearly and unequivocally* discloses an intention to depart from, alter, or abrogate the common-law rule." (*Cal. Assn. of Health Facilities v. Dept. of Health Services* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297, italics added; see also, e.g., *Aryeh v. Canon Bus*.

¹² The doctrines of "ostensible" agency and the rule of "nondelegable duties" (including a species of nondelegable-duty liability called "peculiar risk" liability) provide additional, well-established grounds for holding persons or entities vicariously liable. (See, e.g., Judicial Council of Cal., Civ. Jury Instns. on Vicarious Responsibility (2020), CACI No. 3708-3709, 3713 https://tinyurl.com/ycpbpstu (CACI) [providing a wealth of authorities on these and other vicarious-liability principles].) Because these theories are not presented in this appeal, this brief does not discuss them at length, but the Department notes that section 13009 incorporates them as well.

Solutions, Inc. (2013) 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1193.) That includes the "ancient" principle of respondeat superior, the most common form of vicarious liability, by which a person or entity is held responsible for the negligent or unlawful acts of its workers. (Mary M. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 202, 208; see Dobbs, et al., Torts (2d ed. 2011) § 425; Rest.3d Agency, § 7.07.)¹³ This brief uses the term "employer" to refer to those liable on respondeat superior grounds; "employees and agents" for those who subject an employer to respondeat superior liability; and "independent contractors" for those who do not (but who may subject a hirer to liability on other vicarious-liability grounds, see post, p. 40 fn. 16).¹⁴

Respondent superior is based upon "a deliberate allocation of a risk": "having engaged in an enterprise which will . . . involve harm to others through the torts of employees, and sought to

¹³ In ascertaining common-law rules, this Court often looks to the Restatement (e.g., *Ayala v. Antelope Valley Newspapers*, *Inc.* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 522, 532), as well as leading treatises (e.g., *Far W. Financial Corp. v. D & S Co.* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 796, 813, fn. 13).

¹⁴ While case law and other authorities are not always precise in their terminology, the inquiries used "in deciding whether the hirer of the worker should be held vicariously liable" are generally similar for employees and agents. (*Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903, 927-928, 950, fn. 20; see, e.g., CACI No. 3705, Directions for Use [revised 2017] [same factors are relevant in assessing whether an employer-employee relationship or principal-agent relationship exists for vicarious-liability purposes]; *Flores v. Brown* (1952) 39 Cal.2d 622, 628 [similar]; Rest.3d Agency, § 7.07, com. f.)

profit by it, it is just that [the employer], rather than the innocent injured plaintiff, should bear" the damages. (Hinman v. Westinghouse Electric Co. (1970) 2 Cal.3d 956, 959-60.) Modern respondeat superior principles developed in response to the "expanding complications of commerce and industry" (Prosser & Keeton, Torts (5th ed. 1984) § 69, p. 500 (Prosser & Keeton)), especially the "dissolution of individual business enterprise into the corporation system" (Laski, The Basis of Vicarious Liability (1916) 26 Yale L.J. 105, 124). Because this development "harden[ed] the conditions of commercial life," tending to make business and industry "less careful of human life," while at the same time making it more difficult to hold employers liable on direct-liability grounds, respondeat superior became essential to ensuring a "remedy for admitted wrong." (Ibid.; see also Story, Agency (1839) § 452, pp. 465-466; post, § IV.)¹⁵

While respondent superior's deep common-law roots would alone suffice to require courts to presume that it applies under a statute absent clear, contrary language, the Legislature has made that interpretive command especially clear in California.

^{15 &}quot;To permit a group of persons" to organize in the corporate form "without having the [corporation's] assets subject to liability for the harm caused by the unlawful conduct" would be untenable. (Seavey, *Speculations as to Respondeat Superior*, in Harvard Legal Essays (1934), p. 451) "Whether or not the rule of respondeat superior was sustainable as a matter of justice when it originated, it is reasonably clear that in the modern world we cannot get along without it." (*Ibid.*; cf. *Sony Corp. of America v. Universal City Studios, Inc.* (1984) 464 U.S. 417, 435 ["vicarious liability is imposed in virtually all areas of the law"].)

In 1872, the Legislature codified respondent superior principles at Civil Code section 2338. (See Lisa M. v. Henry Mayo Newhall Memorial Hospital (1995) 12 Cal.4th 291, 296, fn. 2; Johnson v. Monson (1920) 183 Cal. 149, 151-152; Bank of Cal. v. W.U. Telephone Co. (1877) 52 Cal. 280, 287-289.) Much like the statutory maxims codified elsewhere in the Civil Code (see, e.g., Nat. Shooting Sports Foundation, Inc. v. State of Cal. (2018) 5 Cal.5th 428, 433), section 2338 operates as an interpretive instruction to courts—to presume that the Legislature intends to incorporate respondent superior liability in statutes where that doctrine is relevant.

This Court's precedents reflect that legislative instruction. For example, in *Kinney v. Vaccari* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 348, 354, fn. 2, the Court relied on section 2338 in construing a statute to incorporate "the doctrine of respondeat superior," even though the text did not expressly authorize liability on that basis. The statute instead simply provided that a "landlord" would be liable for causing the "interruption or termination of any utility service furnished the tenant." (Civ. Code, § 789.3; see also *Hudson v. Nixon* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 482, 484 [relying on Civil Code, § 2338 in interpreting a Health and Safety Code provision to authorize respondeat superior liability].)

Similarly, though the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) does not expressly provide for respondent superior, this Court has interpreted the Act to incorporate that principle. FEHA makes an "employer" or "entity" liable for various forms of harassment committed by a "supervisor." (Gov. Code § 12940,

subd. (j).) But it does not specify the theory on which the entity can be held liable. It does not say, for example, whether an employer can be held liable only when it "directly" "authorized or ratified" the supervisor's harassment (Opening Brief on the Merits (OBM) 40), or instead whether an employer can be held liable on both direct and vicarious-liability grounds. Even so, this Court determined that vicarious liability is permitted—specifically, that "respondeat superior suppl[ies] the proper analytical framework" for evaluating employer liability. (Patterson v. Domino's Pizza, LLC (2014) 60 Cal.4th 474, 499.)

Similar decisions abound, including: California Association of Health Facilities, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 294-297, which construed a statute to make nursing facilities "vicariously liable for the misconduct" of their "employees and agents," even though the statute did not expressly address vicarious liability; *Meyer v*. Holley (2003) 537 U.S. 280, 285-286, which interpreted the federal Fair Housing Act to "provide[] for vicarious liability" on respondent superior grounds, even while acknowledging that the statute "says nothing about vicarious liability"; and *Haverstick*, *Kennedy*, and *Paiva*, discussed *ante* p. 20, which interpreted former Political Code 3344 to hold employers liable for the acts of employees and agents, even though the provision's text did not explicitly reference respondent superior. (See also, e.g., Ford Dealers Assn. v. Dept. of Motor Vehicles (1982) 32 Cal.3d 347, 360; American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Inc. v. Hydrolevel Corp. (1982) 456 U.S. 556, 566-569; Cal. Real Estate Loans, Inc. v. Wallace (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 1575, 1583-1584; Camacho v.

Youde (1979) 95 Cal.App.3d 161, 164; AT&T v. Winback & Conserve Program, Inc. (3d Cir. 1994) 42 F.3d 1421, 1433-1434; FDS Restaurant, Inc. v. All Plumbing Inc. (D.C. 2020) __ A.3d __, 2020 WL 1465919, at *13-14.)¹⁶

B. Section 13009 Does Not Abrogate Respondeat Superior Liability

Section 13009 includes no "clear and unequivocal" text showing that the Legislature intended to abrogate respondent superior. For that reason, and because its purposes strongly support holding employers vicariously liable, the Court should hold that section 13009 authorizes respondent superior liability.

1. Section 13009's text does not clearly and unequivocally abrogate respondeat superior

Like the statutes considered in *Kinney*, *Patterson*, *California*Association of Health Facilities, Meyer, and the many similar

¹⁶ This Court has, in many circumstances, extended a hirer's vicarious liability to the acts of independent contractors. (See, e.g., *Maloney v. Rath* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 442, 446-448.) As relevant to section 13009, no person can "absolve himself from liability" under a statute designed to protect public safety "by delegating his duties to an independent contractor." (*Snyder v. Southern Cal. Edison Co.* (1955) 44 Cal.2d 793, 799.) Such statutes are thus interpreted to make persons vicariously liable for the conduct of independent contractors absent an "express provision" to the contrary. (*Id.* at p. 801; see, also, e.g., *Cal. Assn. of Health Facilities, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 295-297; *Finnegan v. Royal Realty Co.* (1950) 35 Cal.2d 409, 432; Rest.3d Torts, Physical & Emotional Harm, § 63.) No such "express provision" appears in section 13009.

cases collected above, section 13009 expressly prohibits certain conduct—negligently or unlawfully setting a fire or allowing a fire to be set or to escape—without indicating that persons (natural or legal) cannot be held liable on respondeat superior grounds. To the contrary, by establishing that common-law "negligen[ce]" principles provide a basis for liability, and that corporations are "persons" subject to liability (§ 19), the statutory text provides powerful evidence that the Legislature intended to authorize respondeat superior. By referencing "negligen[ce]" liability, the Legislature indicated that common-law principles should govern the scope of liability under section 13009. (*Post*, pp. 59-60.) And as discussed *post*, pp. 64-65, respondeat superior is the typical basis for holding corporations liable.

At the same time, absent from section 13009 is the text that the Legislature has used in other statutes to abrogate respondent superior. Those statutes provide that persons are "responsible for their own acts or omissions," but not the "acts or omissions of . . . others." (§ 1371.25; see also, e.g., Gov. Code, § 820.8 [similar].) The Legislature thus knows how to unambiguously preclude vicarious liability, but did not do so here.

The statutory text also shows that the Legislature intended section 13009's scope to be broad. Rather than limiting liability to one form of negligent or unlawful conduct, the Legislature included several broad overlapping formulations, making persons liable for, among other things, "setting" a fire or "allowing a fire to be set" by another, unspecified person. (Cf. *People v. Smith* (1984) 35 Cal.3d 798, 806 [noting statute's broad inclusion of

"both active and passive conduct"]; Dean v. United States (2009) 556 U.S. 568, 572 [similar].) The word "allow" sweeps especially broadly, making a person liable for "acquiesc[ing] in, or fail[ing] to prevent known conditions, circumstances, or conduct which might reasonably be expected to result in the starting of a fire." (Ventura County v. Southern Cal. Edison Co. (1948) 85 Cal.App.2d 529, 532; see also, e.g., Delfino v. Sloan (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 1429, 1435-1436.) This capacious language is inconsistent with an intent to preclude a form of liability as well-established as respondeat superior—and certainly evinces no "clear and unequivocal" intent to do so.

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